No. 45143-3-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MEKO DEAUNTE JONES,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

The Honorable Linda C.J. Lee

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The sentence imposed for counts one and six exceeded the statutory maximum and must be remanded for resentencing.
2. Imposition of convictions for second degree assault and first degree robbery violated double jeopardy.
3. Imposition of convictions for first degree robbery and first degree kidnapping violated double jeopardy.
4. Defense counsel's failure to move the trial court to find the robbery, assault, and kidnapping convictions to be the same criminal conduct constituted constitutionally deficient performance.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A trial court's authority to impose sentences is statutory. The maximum sentence for a class B felony is 120 months. A sentence for assault in the second degree, a class B felony, cannot exceed 120 months including any enhancements and terms of community custody. Here, Mr. Jones' sentence on the two second degree assault convictions including the firearm enhancements and terms of community custody exceeded 120 months. Is Mr. Jones entitled to remand for resentencing to a proper sentence?

2. A defendant has the constitutional right to be free from being placed twice in jeopardy. The merger doctrine is a derivative of double jeopardy and provides that where one offense elevates the degree of another offense, imposing convictions for both violates double jeopardy. Here, the assault convictions provided the force to elevate the robbery allegation to first degree. Did the court violate double jeopardy when it imposed convictions for second degree assault and first degree robbery for the same act?

3. Application of the merger doctrine bars imposing convictions for robbery and kidnapping where the kidnapping is incidental to the robbery. Here, did the trial court's imposition of convictions for first degree kidnapping and first degree robbery violate double jeopardy where Mr. Jones' kidnapping was merely incidental to the robbery?

4. A defendant has a Sixth Amendment and article I, section 22 right to counsel and to the effective representation of counsel. A defendant who is denied the effective assistance of counsel and is prejudiced by that failure at sentencing is entitled to a new sentencing hearing. Here, counsel failed to argue the robbery, assault, and kidnapping convictions were the same criminal conduct. Was Mr.

Jones prejudiced by his attorney's deficient representation thus requiring reversal of his sentence and remand for resentencing?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Meko Jones and Kayleigh Littlefield began a romantic relationship, and in 2009 began living together. 6/18/2013RP 17-18. Mr. Jones fathered a son, who was 17 months old at the time of trial, with Ms. Littlefield. 6/18/2013RP 16. On August 20, 2012, Ms. Littlefield decided to move out of the residence she shared with Mr. Jones and took her son with her. 6/18/2013RP 19. Ms. Littlefield still allowed Mr. Jones to regularly visit with his son. 6/18/2013RP 19-20. Ms. Littlefield, Mr. Jones, and their son spent time together at Christmas 2012. 6/18/2013RP 20. Following Christmas, Mr. Jones alleged Ms. Littlefield stopped letting him see his son. 6/25/2013RP 28.

Mr. Jones' anger over his inability to see his son got the better of him and he decided to confront Ms. Littlefield at Bates Technical College in Tacoma, where she was a student. 6/18/2013RP 22; 6/25/2013RP 35. Mr. Jones admitted he did not have a plan when he confronted Ms. Littlefield, but he admitted he was armed with a firearm during the confrontation. 6/25/2013RP 30-37. Mr. Jones confronted

Ms. Littlefield as she arrived at the school. 6/18/2013RP 23;
6/25/2013RP 37.

Mr. Jones was angry and began yelling and cursing at Ms. Littlefield while pointing the gun at her. 6/18/2013RP 23-24;
6/25/2013RP 37. At some point, the gun fired, striking Ms. Littlefield in the abdomen. 6/18/2013RP 28; 6/25/2013RP 38-41. The two walked to Ms. Littlefield's car and Mr. Jones began driving with the gun in his lap. 6/18/2013RP 35; 6/25/2013RP 47. While driving and arguing with Ms. Littlefield, Mr. Jones began hitting the dashboard of the car with the gun in his hand. 6/18/2013RP 36; 6/25/2013RP 48. The gun went off a second time, this time striking the passenger window next to where Ms. Littlefield was seated. 6/18/2013RP 36; 6/25/2013RP 48-49.

Ms. Littlefield and Mr. Jones sat in the car outside Mr. Jones' mother's house talking. 6/18/2013RP 40. At some point, Mr. Jones asked Ms. Littlefield how much money she had in her bank account. 6/18/2013RP 42. When she responded that she had \$300, Mr. Jones requested her Automatic Teller Machine (ATM) card and Personal Identification Number (PIN) and drove to a nearby convenience store. 6/18/2013RP 42-46. There, Mr. Jones withdrew \$200 from Ms.

Littlefield's account. 6/18/2013RP 45; 6/25/2013RP 56. The two then returned to Mr. Jones' mother's home where they again began to argue. 6/18/2013RP 50; 6/25/2013RP 59-60. Ultimately, Mr. Jones got out of the car and allowed Ms. Littlefield to drive to St. Joseph's emergency room where she was treated for the gunshot wound. 6/18/2013RP 67-68; 6/25/2013RP 79-81. Mr. Jones drove towards the hospital in his own car but was arrested a short time later by the police. 6/17/2013RP 93-97; 6/18/2013RP 7-9.

Mr. Jones was subsequently charged with two counts of first degree assault, one count of first degree robbery, one count of first degree kidnapping, one count of unlawful possession of a firearm, one count of attempting to elude, one count of felony harassment for threatening to kill Ms. Littlefield's mother, and one count of tampering with a witness for allegedly attempting to persuade Ms. Littlefield to change her testimony. CP 14-18. All of the counts except the attempting to elude, unlawful possession, and tampering counts also contained firearm enhancements. CP 14-18. The jury acquitted Mr. Jones of the two counts of first degree assault, but convicted him of the lesser degree offense of second degree assault. CP 122-24, 142-44. The jury otherwise convicted Mr. Jones as charged. CP 122-145.

D. ARGUMENT

1. THE SENTENCE IMPOSED BY THE TRIAL COURT ON COUNTS ONE AND SIX FOR SECOND DEGREE ASSAULT EXCEEDED THE STATUTORY MAXIMUM

The Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) prescribes the trial court's authority to sentence in felony cases. *State v. Furman*, 122 Wn.2d 440, 456, 858 P.2d 1092 (1993); *State v. Skillman*, 60 Wn.App. 837, 839, 809 P.2d 756 (1991). Whenever a sentencing court exceeds its statutory authority, its action is void. *State v. Wilson*, 307 P.3d 823 (2013).

A sentence imposed contrary to the law may be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Anderson*, 58 Wn.App. 107, 110, 791 P.2d 547 (1990). On appeal, a defendant may challenge a sentence imposed in excess of statutory authority because "a defendant cannot agree to punishment in excess of that which the Legislature has established." *In re Personal Restraint of Goodwin*, 146 Wn.2d 861, 873-74, 50 P.3d 618 (2002).

Here, counts 1 and 6, the two convictions for second degree assault, were class B felonies with maximum penalties of ten years' confinement and a fine of \$10,000. RCW 9A.20.021(l)(c). A court may not impose a term of community custody that, combined with the

term of confinement, exceeds the maximum term of confinement allowed by RCW 9A.20.021. RCW 9.94A.505(5), RCW 9.94A.701(9).

RCW 9.94A.701(9) provides that “[t]he term of community custody . . . shall be reduced by the court whenever an offender’s standard range term of confinement in combination with the term of community custody exceeds the statutory maximum for the crime as provided in RCW 9A.20.021.” Here, the trial court imposed the statutory maximum sentence of 120 months of confinement (84 months plus 36 for the firearm enhancement) under RCW 9A.20.021(1)(c) and imposed a community custody term of 18 months that when combined with the term of confinement, was greater than 120 months.

Where the sentence imposed exceeds the statutory maximum, the trial court must reduce the term of community custody. RCW 9.94A.701(9); *State v. Boyd*, 174 Wn.2d 470, 472, 275 P.3d 321 (2012). The proper remedy is to “remand to the trial court to either amend the community custody term or resentence.” *Boyd*, 174 Wn.2d at 473.

The trial court’s imposition of sentences for counts one and six exceeded the statutory maximum of 120 months. The remedy is for this Court to remand to the trial court for resentencing.

2. THE MERGER DOCTRINE REQUIRES STRIKING SEVERAL OF MR. JONES' CONVICTIONS

a. The Double Jeopardy Clauses of the United States and Washington Constitutions bar multiple punishments for the same offense. The Double Jeopardy Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that “[n]o person shall ... be subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb.” Article I, section 9 of the Washington State Constitution provides that “[n]o person shall ... be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense.” The two clauses provide the same protection. *In re Personal Restraint of Borrero*, 161 Wn.2d 532, 536, 167 P.3d 1106 (2007); *State v. Weber*, 159 Wn.2d 252, 265, 149 P.3d 646 (2006). The State may bring multiple charges arising from the same criminal conduct in a single proceeding. *State v. Michielli*, 132 Wn.2d 229, 238-39, 937 P.2d 587 (1997). However, the double jeopardy provisions of the United States and Washington Constitutions bar multiple punishments for the same offense. *North Carolina v. Pearce*, 395 U.S. 711, 717, 89 S.Ct. 2072, 23 L.Ed.2d 656 (1969); *State v. Kier*, 164 Wn.2d 798, 803, 194 P.3d 212 (2008).

The Legislature can enact statutes imposing multiple punishments for the same conduct. “With respect to cumulative sentences imposed in a single trial, the Double Jeopardy Clause does no more than prevent the sentencing court from prescribing greater punishment than the legislature intended.” *Missouri v. Hunter*, 459 U.S. 359, 366, 103 S.Ct. 673, 74 L.Ed.2d 535 (1983). If the Legislature intended to impose multiple punishments, their imposition does not violate the double jeopardy clause. *Id.* at 368.

If, however, such clear legislative intent is absent, then courts apply the *Blockburger* test. *Id.*; see *Blockburger v. United States*, 284 U.S. 299, 304, 52 S.Ct. 180, 76 L.Ed. 306 (1932). Under this test, “where the same act or transaction constitutes a violation of two distinct statutory provisions, the test to be applied to determine whether there are two offenses or only one, is whether each provision requires proof of a fact which the other does not.” *Id.* If application of the *Blockburger* test results in a determination that there is only one offense, then imposing two punishments is a double jeopardy violation. The assumption underlying the *Blockburger* rule is that the Legislature ordinarily does not intend to punish the same conduct under two different statutes; the *Blockburger* test is a rule of statutory construction

applied to discern legislative purpose *in the absence of clear indications of contrary legislative intent*. *Hunter*, 459 U.S. at 368.

In short, when a single trial and multiple punishments for the same act or conduct are at issue, the initial and often dispositive question is whether the legislature intended that multiple punishments be imposed. *Id.*; *Kier*, 164 Wn.2d at 804. If there is *clear* legislative intent to impose multiple punishments for the same act or conduct, this is the end of the inquiry and no double jeopardy violation exists. If such clear intent is absent, then the court applies the *Blockburger* “same evidence” test to determine whether the crimes are the same in fact and law. *State v. Calle*, 125 Wn.2d 769, 777-78, 888 P.2d 155 (1995).

This Court uses a three-part test in determining whether convictions violate double jeopardy. *State v. Freeman*, 153 Wn.2d 765, 772-73, 108 P.3d 753 (2005). First, the Court determines whether there is express or implicit legislative intent based on the criminal statutes at issue. *Kier*, 164 Wn.2d at 804. Second, if legislative intent is unclear, the Court turns to the *Blockburger* “same evidence” test, which asks if the crimes are the same in law and fact. *Kier*, 164 Wn.2d at 804.

Finally, the Court determines whether the merger doctrine is applicable. *Kier*, 164 Wn.2d at 804.

Double jeopardy challenges are reviewed *de novo*. *Freeman*, 153 Wn.2d at 770. The remedy for violations of double jeopardy is to vacate the lesser offense. *State v. Hughes*, 166 Wn.2d 675, 686 n. 13, 212 P.3d 558 (2009); *State v. Chesnokov*, 175 Wn.App. 345, 349, 305 P.3d 1103 (2013).

Here, the relevant statutes do not explicitly authorize separate punishments. Additionally, the offenses are not the same under the *Blockburger* same evidence test. Thus, the issue is whether the offenses merge for the purposes of double jeopardy.

b. The merger doctrine bars imposition of convictions for robbery and assault and robbery and kidnapping. The merger doctrine applies at the time of sentencing and is designed to correct violations of double jeopardy. *State v. Parmelee*, 108 Wn.App. 702, 711, 32 P.3d 1029 (2001). The benchmark for determining the appropriate remedy is legislative intent. *Freeman*, 153 Wn.2d at 771-72. Merger is a doctrine of statutory interpretation used to determine whether the legislature intended to impose multiple punishments for a single act that violates several statutory provisions. *In re Personal*

Restraint of Fletcher, 113 Wn.2d 42, 50-51, 776 P.2d 114 (1989).

Whether the merger doctrine bars double punishment is a question of law reviewed *de novo*. *State v. Williams*, 131 Wn.App. 488, 498, 128 P.3d 98 (2006).

Under the merger doctrine, when the degree of one offense is raised by conduct that the legislature has separately criminalized, courts presume that the legislature intended to punish both offenses once through a greater sentence for the greater crime. *Freeman*, 153 Wn.2d at 772-73. Two offenses merge under the merger doctrine if, “to prove a particular degree of crime (*e.g.*, first degree rape) the State must prove not only, that a defendant committed that crime (*e.g.*, rape) but that the crime was accompanied by an act which is defined as a crime elsewhere in the criminal statutes (*e.g.*, assault or kidnapping).”

Freeman, 153 Wn.2d at 777-78, quoting *State v. Vladovic*, 99 Wn.2d 413, 420-21, 662 P.2d 853 (1983). Thus, where a predicate offense is an underlying element of another crime, generally the predicate offense will merge into the second, more serious crime and the court may not punish it separately. *Vladovic*, 99 Wn.2d at 421.

i. The convictions for the two counts of second degree assault merged with the count for first degree robbery where the assault provided the force necessary to elevate the degree of robbery to first degree. The merger doctrine is relevant when a crime is elevated to a higher degree by proof of another crime proscribed elsewhere in the criminal code. *Parmelee*, 108 Wn.App. at 710. When a second degree assault is the conduct that elevates a robbery to the first degree, there is “no evidence that the legislature intended to punish second degree assault separately from first degree robbery when the assault facilitates the robbery.” *Freeman*, 153 Wn.2d at 776. Such second degree assault committed in furtherance of a robbery merges with the robbery unless a merger exception applies. *Id.* at 778.

While there is no *per se* rule that assault in the second degree merges into robbery in the first degree, the Supreme Court has repeatedly determined that second degree assault merges into first degree robbery when there is no independent purpose for each crime. *Freeman*, 153 Wn.2d at 774; *Chesnokov*, 175 Wn.App. at 350.

In *Kier*, for example, Qualgine Hudson was driving home and his cousin, Carlos Ellison, was in the passenger seat. 164 Wn.2d at 802. Three men in another car honked their horn at Hudson. *Id.* Mr.

Hudson pulled over, got out of the car, and began talking to one of the men. *Id.* Mr. Kier got out of the other car and pointed a gun at Mr. Hudson. *Id.* Mr. Hudson ran away, and Mr. Kier then approached Mr. Ellison, who was still in Mr. Hudson's car, and pointed the gun at him. *Id.* Mr. Kier ordered Mr. Ellison to get out of the car. *Id.* After Mr. Ellison got out, Mr. Kier and his two accomplices drove away with both cars. *Id.* at 803. Mr. Kier was found guilty of second degree assault and first degree robbery. *Id.*

The Supreme Court concluded that "the completed assault was necessary to elevate the completed robbery to first degree." *Id.* at 807. The Court further explained, "The merger doctrine is triggered when second degree assault with a deadly weapon elevates robbery to the first degree because being armed with or displaying a firearm or deadly weapon to take property through force or fear is essential to the elevation." *Id.* at 806.

Here the decision in *Kier* is directly applicable. The two assaults provided the force necessary to elevate the robbery to first degree. Accordingly, the assaults should have merged with the robbery.

ii. The convictions for first degree robbery and first degree kidnapping merged where the kidnapping was incidental to the robbery. If the evidence proving one crime is also necessary to prove a second crime or a higher degree of the same crime, the appellate court will consider whether the facts show that the additional crime was committed incidental to the original crime. *State v. Johnson*, 92 Wn.2d 671, 680, 600 P.2d 1249 (1979). If one crime was incidental to the commission of the other, the merger doctrine precludes additional convictions; but if the offenses have independent purposes or effects, the court may impose separate punishment. *Freeman*, 153 Wn.2d at 778; *Vladovic*, 99 Wn.2d at 421. To establish an independent purpose or effect of a particular crime, that crime must injure the person or property of the victim or others in a separate and distinct manner from the crime for which it also serves as an element. *Freeman*, 153 Wn.2d at 779; *Johnson*, 92 Wn.2d at 680; *State v. Lindsay*, 171 Wn. App. 808, 288 P.3d 641 (2012), *review granted*, 177 Wn.2d 1023 (2013).

In *State v. Korum*, this Court held as a matter of law that kidnapping was incidental to robbery when (1) the restraint was for the sole purpose of facilitating robbery; (2) the restraint was inherent in the

robbery; (3) the victims were not transported from their home; (4) the duration of restraint was not substantially longer than necessary to complete the robbery; and (5) the restraint did not create an independent, significant danger. 120 Wn.App. 686, 707, 86 P.3d 166 (2004), *rev'd in part on other grounds and aff'd in part*, 157 Wn.2d 614, 620, 141 P.3d 13 (2006). In reversing the kidnapping convictions, this Court reasoned, "That all robberies necessarily involve some degree of forcible restraint, however, does not mean that the legislature intended prosecutors to charge every robber with kidnapping." *Korum*, 120 Wn.App. at 705. As our Supreme Court held in *State v. Green*, restraint and movement of a victim that are merely incidental and integral to commission of another crime, such as rape or murder, do not constitute the independent, separate crime of kidnapping. 94 Wn.2d 216, 226-27, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

Here, the restraint of Ms. Littlefield and subsequent movement were merely incidental to the robbery. The restraint was ultimately for the purpose of robbing Ms. Littlefield. The kidnapping and robbery convictions should have merged. Mr. Jones is entitled to reversal of his sentence and remand for resentencing.

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