A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF

ERROR. 

1. Whether the court' s sentence on counts I and VI exceeded

the 120 -month statutory maximum where defendant was sentenced

to 36 months in community custody in addition to 120 months in

total confinement on those counts. 

2. Whether the trial court properly found that neither

defendant' s second degree assault and first degree robbery

convictions nor his first degree robbery and first degree kidnapping

convictions merged where these convictions were based on

separate criminal acts, separated in time and with separate

purposes. 

3. Whether defendant' s assault, robbery, and kidnapping

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

C. ARGUMENT. 

1. THE TRIAL COURT' S SENTENCE ON COUNTS

I AND VI EXCEEDED THE 120 -MONTH

STAUTORY MAXIMUM BECAUSE

DEFENDANT WAS SENTENCED TO 36

MONTHS IN COMMUNITY CUSTODY IN

ADDITION TO 120 MONTHS IN TOTAL

CONFINEMENT ON THOSE COUNTS. 

RCW 9A.20. 021 provides that " for a Class B felony," no person

shall be punished by confinement... exceeding... ( b) a term of ten

years[.]" This " statute is not violated unless the total confinement ordered

for any one offense exceeds 120 months." State v. Thomas, 113 Wn. App. 

755, 759, 54 P. 3d 719 ( 2002). 

The punishment imposed for an offense cannot

exceed the maximum term set by the Legislature. When
several offenses are sentenced together, the statutory

maximum is applied to each offense separately. Thus, the
total confinement imposed for each offense, including any
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enhancement for that offense, must not exceed the

maximum. The fact that base sentences are served

concurrently, while firearm enhancements are served
consecutively, does not affect this determination. 

State v. Thomas, 113 Wn. App. 755, 757, 54 P. 3d 719 ( 2002). 

Moreover, the term of community custody associated with an

offense " shall be reduced by the court whenever an offender' s standard

range term of confinement in combination with the term of community

custody exceeds the statutory maximum for the crime as provided in RCW

9A.20.021." RCW 9. 94A.701( 9). 

When a sentencing court fails to reduce the term of community

custody to avoid a sentence in excess of the statutory maximum, the

remedy is to " remand to the trial court to either amend the community

custody term or resentence [ the defendant]... consistent with RCW

9. 94A.701( 9)." State v. Boyd, 174 Wn.2d 470, 275 P. 3d 321 ( 2012). 

In the present case, the defendant was sentenced on second degree

assault, a class B felony, in both counts I and VI. CP 199 -217; RCW

9A.36. 021( 2). On both of these counts, the court sentenced defendant to

84 months in total confinement for the assault conviction plus 36 months

for the firearm sentence enhancement for a total of 120 months, Id., a term

equivalent to the statutory maximum. RCW 9A.20.021( 1)( b). 
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However, because the court also imposed an additional term of 36

months in community custody under RCW 9A.94A.701( 1)( b) on counts I

and VI, its sentence on those counts exceeded the statutory maximum. 

While not argued by defendant and rendered moot by the operation

of RCW 9. 94A.701( 9), the sentencing court also appears to have erred by

imposing 36 months of community custody under RCW 9. 94A.701( 1). 

That subsection applies only to sex and serious violent offences, and

second degree assault is neither. Compare RCW 9.94A.701( 1) with RCW

9.94A.030(45) -(46). Rather, because second degree assault is a " violent

offence," under RCW 9. 94A.030( 54)( viii), the court was required to

impose 18 months under RCW 9.94A.701( 2), and then reduce that term to

zero under RCW 9. 94A.701( 9) and RCW 9A.20.021( 1)( b). 

Because the trial court failed to do so, this Court should remand so

that the trial court may reduce the community custody term imposed on

counts I and VI from 36 months to zero, consistent with RCW

9.94A.701( 9) and RCW 9A.20. 021( 1)( b). See Boyd, 174 Wn.2d at 473. 

The defendant' s convictions and sentences should otherwise be

affirmed. 
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2. THE COURT PROPERLY FOUND THAT

NEITHER DEFENDANT' S SECOND DEGREE

ASSAULT AND FIRST DEGREE ROBBERY

CONVICTIONS NOR HIS FIRST DEGREE

ROBBERY AND FIRST DEGREE KIDNAPPING

CONVICTIONS MERGED BECAUSE THESE

CRIMES WERE BASED ON SEPARATE

CRIMINAL ACTS, SEPARATED IN TIME AND

WITH SEPARATE PURPOSES. 

The double jeopardy clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United

States Constitution provides that no person shall " be subject for the same

offense to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb." U. S. Const. Amend. V. 

It applies to the states through the due process clause of the Fourteenth

Amendment. State v. Wright, 165 Wn.2d 783, 801, 203 P. 3d 1027 ( 2009) 

citing Benton v. Maryland, 395 U.S. 784, 794, 89 S. Ct. 2056, 23 L. Ed. 

2d 707 ( 1969)). 

The Washington State Constitution similarly mandates that no

person shall " be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense." Wn. Const. 

Art. I, Sec. 9. 

Washington' s double jeopardy clause is coextensive with the

federal double jeopardy clause and ` is given the same interpretation the

Supreme Court gives to the Fifth Amendment.' State v. Turner, 169

Wn.2d 448, 454, 238 P. 3d 461 ( 2010); State v. Adel, 136 Wn.2d 629, 632, 

632, 965 P. 2d 1072 ( 1998) ( citing State v. Gocken, 127 Wn.2d 95, 107, 
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896 P. 2d 1267 ( 1995)); State v. Knight, 176 Wn. App. 936, 309 P. 3d 776

2013). 

Both clauses have been interpreted to protect

against the same triumvirate of constitutional evils: " being
1) prosecuted a second time for the same offense after

acquittal, ( 2) prosecuted a second time for the same offense

after conviction, and ( 3) punished multiple times for the

same offense. 

Turner, 169 Wn.2d at 454 ( emphasis added). See Whalen v. United

States, 445 U.S. 684, 688, 100 S. Ct. 1432, 1436, 63 L. Ed. 2d 715 ( 1980). 

If a defendant' s acts support charges under two statutes, [ appellate

courts] ask whether the legislature intended to authorize multiple

punishments for the crimes in question." State v. Knight, 176 Wn. App. 

936, 951, 309 P. 3d 776 ( 2013). 

In State v. Calle[, 125 Wn.2d 769, 776, 888 P. 2d 155 ( 1995)], our

Supreme Court set forth a three -part test for double jeopardy claims: 

First, [ courts] search for express or implicit

legislative intent to punish the crimes separately; if this
intent is clear, [ courts] look no further. Second, if there is

no clear statement of legislative intent, [ courts] may apply
the " same evidence" 

Blockburgerl

test, which asks if the

crimes are the same in law and in fact. Third, [courts] may
use the merger doctrine to discern legislative intent where

the degree of one offense is elevated by conduct
constituting a separate offense. But even if two
convictions appear to merge on an abstract level, the State

Blockburger v. United States, 284 U. S. 299, 304, 52 S. Ct. 180, 76 L. Ed. 306 ( 1932). 
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may punish them separately ifeach conviction has an
independent purpose or effect. 

Knight, 176 Wn. App. at 952 ( citations omitted) (emphasis added). 

Hence, "[ m] erger is a doctrine of statutory interpretation used to

determine whether the legislature intended to impose multiple

punishments for a single act that violates several statutory provisions." 

State v. Davis, 177 Wn. App. 454, 460, 311 P. 3d 1278 ( 2013) ( citing In re

Personal Restraint ofFletcher, 113 Wn.2d 42, 50 -51, 776 P. 2d 114

1989)). 

Under the merger doctrine, when a criminal act

forbidden under one statute elevates the degree of a crime

under another statute, the courts presume that the

legislature intended to punish both acts through a single

conviction for the greater crime. [ State v.] Freeman, 153

Wash.2d at 772 - 74, 108 P. 3d 753 ( when assault elevates

robbery to first degree, generally the two crimes constitute
the same offense for double jeopardy purposes). The

Freeman Court did not, however, adopt a per se rule; 

instead, it underscored the need for a reviewing court take a
hard look at each case" based on its facts and charged

crimes. Freeman, 153 Wash.2d at 774, 108 P. 3d 753. 

Knight, 176 Wn. App. at 952 -53. 

Indeed, where the crimes of conviction are " based on separate

criminal acts, separated in time and with separate purposes," the first

criminal act is not essential in elevating the degree of the other, and the

crimes do not merge. Knight, 176 Wn. App. at 953 -56. 
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Double jeopardy is a question of law, which [appellate courts] 

review de novo." State v. Knight, 176 Wn. App. 936, 952, 309 P. 3d 776

2013). Likewise, "[ m] erger issues involve questions of law reviewed de

novo." State v. Davis, 177 Wn. App. 454, 460, 311 P. 3d 1278 ( 2013) 

citing State v. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d 765, 770, 108 P. 3d 753 ( 2005) 

citing State v. Johnston, 100 Wn. App. 126, 137, 996 P. 2d 629 ( 2000)). 

Here, the defendant makes two arguments. First, he argues, based

on State v. Freeman, 153 Wn.2d 765, 108 P. 3d 753 ( 2005), and State v. 

Kier, 164 Wn.2d 798, 194 P. 3d 212 ( 2008), that " the two counts of second

degree assault merged with the count for first degree robbery," because he

contends these " assaults provided the force necessary to elevate the

robbery to first degree." Brief of Appellant (BOA), p. 13 - 14. The law and

record show otherwise. 

Legally, in both Freeman and Kier, "to prove first degree robbery

as [ there] charged and proved by the State, the State had to prove the

defendants committed an assault in furtherance of the robbery," such that, 

without the conduct amounting to assault, each [ defendant] would be

guilty of only second degree robbery." Freeman, 153 Wn.2d at 778; Kier, 

164 Wn.2d at 804. That is not the case here. 
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Here, neither assault was necessary to elevate the robbery to first

degree. See CP 14 -18. While a person may commit first degree robbery by

i] nflicting bodily injury" consistent with second degree assault, RCW

9A.56.200( 1)( a)( iii), RCW 9A.36.021( 1)( a), the defendant in this case was

neither charged nor convicted of doing so. CP 14 -18, 133. Rather, the jury

convicted him of first degree robbery " as charged" in the second amended

information, CP 133, which charged him with first degree robbery only

because " he was armed with a deadly weapon, to wit, a revolver, contrary

to RCW 9A.56.200( 1)( a)( i) and 9A.56.200( 1)( a)( i)." CP 14 -18. 

Thus, the defendant' s actual use of that revolver, for which he was

convicted of the two counts of second degree assault, was irrelevant to his

first degree robbery conviction. Unlike in Freeman, 153 Wn.2d 765, the

second degree assaults, which in this case required use of the revolver, did

not elevate the robbery to first degree. The simple possession of the

revolver did. 

Factually, the second degree assaults and the robbery at issue here

were " based on separate criminal acts, separated in time and with separate

purposes." Knight, 176 Wn. App. at 953 -56. While the defendant may

have been charged and convicted of robbery for taking Littlefield' s car, 

her cellular telephone, and /or her ATM card, and money, the State elected, 
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during its closing argument, to base the robbery count on the defendant' s

taking of Littlefield' s ATM card and money. 06/ 26/ 2013 RP 25. 

However, this robbery occurred well after both assaults at issue

here were completed. It occurred after those assaults, after the defendant

then drove Littlefield back to his mother' s residence, after he engaged in

an argument about custody of their son, 06/ 18/ 2013 RP 39- 41, after he

took her cell phone, 06/ 18/ 2013 RP 46 -47, after he got her pain

medication, 06/ 18/ 2013 RP 41, after called people about buying a shotgun, 

06/ 18/ 2013 RP 44, and after he drove her to a convenience store. 

06/ 18/ 2013 RP 47. Hence, the second degree assaults and the first degree

robbery were " separate criminal acts, separated in time." Knight, 176 Wn. 

App. at 953 -56. 

They were also committed " with separate purposes." Id. While the

defendant committed the assaults while arguing with Littlefield about the

custody of their child, he committed the robbery because he wanted to use

the money obtained thereby to buy a shotgun to shoot Littlefield' s mother. 

06/ 18/ 2013 RP 43; 06/ 25/ 2013 RP 58. 

Because, the second degree assault and robbery convictions are

based on separate criminal acts, separated in time and with separate

purposes," Knight, 176 Wn. App. at 953 -56, they do not merge. 
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The defendant also argues that the count II first degree kidnapping

conviction and the count III first degree robbery conviction should have

merged because "[ t] he restraint [ of the kidnapping] was ultimately for the

purpose of robbing Ms. Littlefield." BOA, p. 15 - 16. The law and record

require otherwise. 

Legally, while a robbery may provide proof of the " intent to inflict

bodily injury" necessary to elevate a kidnapping to first degree, RCW

9A.40.020( 1)( c), CP 14 -18, 52 -119, it did not do so in this case. CP 128. 

Here, the jury returned a special verdict indicating that its finding of guilt

of first degree kidnapping was based only on its finding that the defendant

abducted Littlefield "with intent to inflict extreme mental distress," and

not on a finding that he intended to inflict the bodily injury that may be

concurrent with a robbery. CP 128. Hence, the degree of kidnapping was

not elevated by the conduct that constituted the first degree robbery. 

Because " the degree of one offense" was not " elevated by conduct

constituting a separate offense," Knight, 176 Wn. App. at 952, the first

degree kidnapping conviction and the first degree robbery conviction do

not merge. 
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Factually, the first degree kidnapping and first degree robbery

convictions are " based on separate criminal acts, separated in time and

with separate purposes." Knight, 176 Wn. App. at 953 -56. 

The kidnapping began when the defendant confronted Littlefield at

her school with a revolver and made her accompany him across the street, 

in her car to his mother' s house, to at least one convenience store, to an

alleyway, and back to his mother' s house. See e. g., 06/ 18/ 2013 RP 24 -50; 

06/ 25/ 2013pm RP 5, 7, 26. However, the defendant had effectively

kidnapped Littlefield when they left the school together. 06/ 25/ 2013pm

RP5, 7. 

The robbery did not occur until much later, after they had arrived at

a convenience store and the defendant demanded Littlefield' s ATM card

and PIN. 06/ 18/ 2013 RP 24 -48. Hence, the first degree kidnapping and

first degree robbery convictions are " based on separate criminal acts, 

separated in time." Knight, 176 Wn. App. at 953 -56. 

They also had separate purposes. Contrary to the defendant' s

present contention, he did not kidnap Littlefield for the purpose of robbing

her of her ATM card or money. Indeed, he testified that his ultimate

objective in confronting her that day, and in making her accompany him, 

was to spend the day with his son. 06/25/ 2013 RP 37 -38; 06/25/ 2013pm
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RP 3 -4. The defendant had a separate purpose for robbing her. Littlefield

testified that the defendant wanted her money so that he could buy a

shotgun to shoot Littlefield' s mother. 06/ 18/ 2013 RP 42 -43. The

defendant also testified that he intended to use most of the money he

withdrew from Littlefield' s account to buy a gun. 06/ 25/ 2013 RP 58. 

Hence, the first degree kidnapping and first degree robbery convictions

had separate purposes. 

Because, the second degree assault and robbery convictions are

based on separate criminal acts, separated in time and with separate

purposes," Knight, 176 Wn. App. at 953 -56, they do not merge. 

Therefore, the trial court properly found that neither Defendant' s

second degree assault and first degree robbery convictions nor his first

degree robbery and first degree kidnapping convictions merged, and aside

from the community custody provisions pertaining to counts I and VI, the

defendant' s convictions and sentences should be affirmed. 
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3. DEFENDANT' S ASSAULT, ROBBERY, AND

KIDNAPPING CONVICTIONS WERE SEPARATE AND

DISTINCT RATHER THAN THE SAME CRIMINAL

CONDUCT UNDER RCW 9. 94A.589( 1)( a), AND

HENCE, DEFENDANT CANNOT SHOW

INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BECAUSE

HE CANNOT SHOW HIS TRIAL COUNSEL' S

PERFORMANCE WAS DEFICIENT FOR FAILING TO

ARGUE OTHERWISE. 

Effective assistance of counsel is guaranteed by both the United

States Constitution amendment VI and Washington Constitution article I, 

section 22 ( amendment X)." State v. Yarbrough, 151 Wn. App. 66, 89, 

210 P. 3d 1029, 1040 -41 ( 2009); State v. Johnston, 143 Wn. App. 1, 177

P. 3d 1127 ( 2007). A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is reviewed

de novo. Yarbrough, 151 Wn. App. at 89. 

Washington has adopted the Strickland test to determine whether

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